96898-5

Court of Appeals Case No. 76949-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EVERETT HANGAR, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, Respondent,

v.

KILO 6 OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; KILO SIX, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC HANGARS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC FLIGHT FOUNDATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; and JOHN SESSIONS, an individual Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S. Louis D. Peterson, WSBA #5776 Jake Ewart, WSBA #38655 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 623-1745

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

I. INTRODUCTION

This petition for discretionary review concerns one topic: attorneys' fees. Awards of attorneys' fees may not ordinarily grab the attention of this Court. This case should.

The Court of Appeals—contrary to uncontroversial, unambiguous, and longstanding Washington law—failed to award attorneys' fees to the *only parties* who prevailed on *every issue in the case*. Plaintiff, Everett Hangar, lost on all its claims against defendants John Sessions, Kilo 6 Owners Association, and Kilo Six, LLC. These three defendants won everything: they are unequivocally prevailing parties. And as prevailing parties, they are entitled to their attorneys' fees under a contractual provision providing for attorneys' fees to a prevailing party.

The Court of Appeals inexplicably concluded these three victorious defendants were *not* prevailing parties. In doing so, the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's directive in *Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 727, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987), that where there is a prevailing party fee provision, like here, a court *must* award attorneys' fees to a prevailing party:

We hold that the trial court has discretion regarding the *amount* of attorney's fees which are reasonable, but that where a contract provides for an award of reasonable

attorney's fees to the prevailing party, such an award must be made.

Id. at 727 (emphasis added).

This Court should grant defendants' petition for review to reverse this plain error.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals misapplied settled Washington law by awarding fees to plaintiff against the other two defendants, Historic Hangars, LLC and Historic Flight Foundation. Plaintiff obtained some relief against these defendants, but these defendants successfully defended against most of plaintiff's claims. In these circumstances, no party is the prevailing party entitled to fees. *McGary v. Westlake Inv'rs*, 99 Wn.2d 280, 288, 661 P.2d 971 (1983); *Seashore Villa Ass'n v. Hugglund Family Ltd. P'shp*, 163 Wn. App. 531, 547, 260 P.3d 906 (2011).

Finally, even if plaintiff were entitled to some fees, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals performed its duty to engage in a thoughtful review of plaintiff's fee petition. Not only were the fees excessive in amount, they were awarded in part for legal work on losing claims, and in part for legal work billed but—indisputably—not actually performed.

These mistakes matter—not just to the parties here, but to the reliability and fairness of attorneys' fee assessments generally. This

Court's mission includes rectifying unjust errors such as those made below, and establishing and monitoring the legal principles that guide lower courts.

The Court should accept review to correct these errors and to reassert prevailing party principles that should guide lower courts in analyzing what is often the most important component of a civil case.

II. IDENTITIES OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners/Defendants Kilo 6 Owners Association (the "Owners Association"), Kilo Six, LLC ("Kilo Six"), Historic Hangars, LLC ("Historic Hangars"), Historic Flight Foundation (the "Foundation"), and John Sessions ask this Court to accept review.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the January 28, 2019 decision of the Court of Appeals, *Everett Hangar, LLC v. Kilo 6 Owners Ass'n*, No. 76949-9-I, 2019 WL 355722 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 28, 2019), a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because the rules regarding the award of attorneys' fees are an issue of substantial public interest, and because the Court of Appeals decision

directly conflicts with the precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of Dispute

The fundamental error committed by the Court of Appeals is underscored by its definition of the parties: the Court inappropriately lumps all defendants together, defining them jointly as "Kilo 6." Op. at 1. To the contrary, Everett Hangar elected to sue four entities and one individual: the Owners Association, Kilo Six, Historic Hangars, Historic Flight Foundation, and John Sessions. Each has a different connection to this litigation.

Everett Hangar asserted five causes of action seeking damages and injunctive relief against these five defendants related to the use of neighboring lots (Lots 11, 12, and 13) on the Snohomish County Airport (commonly known as Paine Field). The defendants and their relationships to the three lots are described below:

- *Historic Hangars* is the ground lessee of Lot 11.
- *The Foundation* is a non-profit corporation that operates a vintage aircraft museum on Lot 11. The Foundation subleases Lot 11 from Historic Hangars.
- *Kilo Six* is the ground lessee for Lot 13. Kilo Six permits the Foundation to use Lot 13 for guest parking for Foundation events.

- The Owners Association is an owners' association that governs the three lots at issue and includes Plaintiff Everett Hangar.
- Sessions is the managing member of Historic Hangars and Kilo Six, the president of the Foundation, and a director of the Owners Association.

The lots are governed by an amended and restated ground leasehold declaration of covenants, conditions, and restrictions (the "CC&Rs"), which includes a prevailing party fee provision. CP 980.

1. Sessions, the Owners Association, and Kilo 6
Have Prevailed on All of Everett Hangar's
Claims.

The trial and appellate proceedings are described in the opinion below and in a prior related appeal, *Everett Hangar, LLC v. Kilo 6 Owners Ass'n*, 195 Wn. App. 1034, 2016 WL 4188007 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 8, 2016), a copy of which is attached as Appendix B (the "First Appeal").

After trial and appeal, three defendants—Sessions, the Owners Association, and Kilo Six—won everything. On summary judgment, these defendants defeated Everett Hangar's damages claims. At trial, these defendants prevailed on additional claims. And in the First Appeal, these defendants defeated all remaining claims against them. *Everett Hangar*, 195 Wn. App. 1034, at *10.

These three defendants ultimately won on every single claim

Everett Hangar alleged against them.

2. Historic Hangars and the Foundation Have Prevailed on Most Claims.

After trial and the First Appeal, the other two defendants—Historic Hangars and the Foundation—defeated nearly all of Everett Hangar's requested relief. Everett Hangar's lack of success is demonstrated by comparing the relief that it requested in its Amended Complaint (which was filed *during trial* after Everett Hangar rested) with the relief it ultimately obtained. The relief requested by Everett Hangar in its Amended Complaint is set forth below, with strike-outs reflecting the relief that Everett Hangar was denied:

Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court:

- A. Enter a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants [now, only Defendants Historic Hangars and the Foundation], and all those acting in concert or participation with them, from operating a vintage aircraft museum static aircraft display on the Lot 11 apron, providing uncontrolled or poorly controlled public access to the Lot 11 apron [now, only the object free area on the Lot 11 apron] or conducting any other similar operation on the Lot 11 apron inconsistent with the safe and efficient operation of all aircraft, including those operating out of the hangar on Lot 12;
- B. Enjoin Defendant John Sessions from breaching his fiduciary duties to Plaintiff by (a) controlling the Association for his own benefit, the detriment of Plaintiff, or (b) allowing activities on Lot 11 or Lot 13 that expose Plaintiff and its operations to unreasonable safety and security risks.

Enter a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants and their agents, employees, officers and contractors are enjoined [sic] from permitting public access to Lot 13 for

vehicle parking or any other purpose unless and until it first erects, at its expense, a fence identical in design and material to the existing Paine Field perimeter fencing, around the perimeter of that portion of Lot 13 to be used for public access, which shall connect at both ends to the Paine Field perimeter fencing. The northern boundary of the newly-erected security fence shall not extend further north than a line defined by the north wall of the Lot 12 hangar.

- C. Enjoin Defendants from refusing to allow Everett Hangar to construct security fencing and a secured gate, at Everett Hangar's expense, identical in design and material to the existing Paine Field perimeter fencing, around the Lot 12 parking lot;
- D. Award Plaintiff's costs, including attorneys' fees, pursuant to Sec. 4.2 of the CC&Rs;
- E. Award prejudgment and post-judgment interest on applicable amounts; and
- F. Award such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

Historic Hangars and the Foundation are now prohibited only from blocking the area necessary to move aircraft across one lot, and from propping open entrances to two lots without appropriate monitors. This is only a small fraction of the relief Everett Hangar requested in the trial court.

B. On Remand, the Trial Court Did Not Change Its Attorneys' Fee Award.

In the First Appeal, the Court of Appeals vacated the trial court's attorneys' fee award to Everett Hangar, remanding the award for "recalculation and entry of findings and conclusions." *Everett Hangar*,

195 Wn. App. 1034, at *11. The Court held that the trial court had not entered the necessary findings and conclusions in connection with its original award, and had not adequately considered defendants' "specific objections." *Id.* The trial court was directed to take an "*active* role in assessing the reasonableness of fee awards" and "do more than give lip service to the word 'reasonable.' [It] must show how the court resolved disputed issues of fact and the conclusions must explain the court's analysis." *Id.* (emphasis in original)(citation omitted).

On remand, the trial court ignored the Court of Appeals' instructions to consider defendants' objections, and entered an attorneys' fee award in the identical amount that it had entered before the First Appeal: \$863,669.57. The trial court refused to award fees to Sessions, the Owners Association, and Kilo Six even though they had prevailed on all claims and were each sued under the CC&Rs. CP 906-09. The trial court also declined to change the amount of its award in light of the other defendants' substantial wins, adjusting not at all for the claims newly dismissed on appeal. Despite the directions of the Court of Appeals, the trial court again ignored defendant's specific objections to Everett Hangar's fees, including, for example, awarding for a second time fees charged by a senior partner for attending a full day deposition that he indisputably did not attend. CP 187.

Accordingly, defendants appealed the trial court's new award of attorneys' fees to Everett Hangar. In this second appeal, the Court of Appeals left the new award undisturbed.

VI. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2) because the opinion below directly conflicts with the precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals, which mandate a party-by-party analysis to determine prevailing parties and require appropriate scrutiny of attorneys' fee awards. The Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the rules regarding attorneys' fees are an issue of substantial public interest. These rules affect a significant number of civil lawsuits, and they should be clear in their application.

A. The Court of Appeals Refused to Determine Prevailing Parties on a Party-by-Party Basis, Contrary to the Mandates of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals misapplied longstanding case law by ruling that three victorious defendants who prevailed on all claims—Sessions, the Owners Association, and Kilo Six—were not prevailing parties.

Whether a litigant is a "prevailing party" is a mixed question of law and fact that Washington courts review under the error of law standard.

Cornish Coll. of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship, 158 Wn. App. 203, 231, 242 P.3d 1 (2010).

In an action on a contract with a prevailing party fee provision, like here, a court must award attorneys' fees to a prevailing party. *Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 727, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987). *Singleton* holds that the award of fees is mandatory for *each* party that prevails. If two plaintiffs prevail in an action, a trial court abuses its discretion in awarding fees to only one. *See id.* at 727. Similarly, where there is both a prevailing plaintiff and a prevailing defendant, a trial court abuses its discretion in awarding fees to only the prevailing plaintiff. *See Cornish Coll.*, 158 Wn. App. at 232-33.

Like *Singleton*, *Cornish College* requires courts to undertake a party-by-party analysis to determine which litigants prevail. *Id*. In *Cornish College*, a commercial tenant sued two separate defendants: its landlord (a partnership) and the landlord's principal. The trial court dismissed plaintiff's claims against the principal but did not award him prevailing party fees. *Id*. at 215. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court on this issue, holding that the trial court abused its discretion "in failing to consider [the partnership] and [its principal] separately when determining which party substantially prevailed." *Id*. at 233. The Court was

unequivocal that in multiparty litigation, a court must determine who is a prevailing party on a *party-by-party* basis:

Without piercing the corporate veil, the trial court cannot simply disregard the liability implications of the business structures of [different defendants]. Thus, the trial court was compelled to evaluate not only which party substantially prevailed, but also *against whom* that party prevailed.

Id. at 232 (emphasis in original).

As the Court of Appeals noted in *Cornish College*, a failure to review prevailing parties on a party-by-party basis can lead to unjust, and at times absurd, results:

If [defendants] are not evaluated *individually* in determining who is the substantially prevailing party, then [the principal] would be liable for the full amount of [the plaintiff's] attorney fees and costs even if he were not found liable on any of [plaintiff's] claims. *This cannot be the correct result*....

Id. at 232-33 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals opinion below directly conflicts with *Singleton* and *Cornish College* because it refuses to consider on a party-by-party basis which parties prevailed. The Court of Appeals expressly disagreed with defendants' assertion "that <u>Cornish College</u> required that the trial court engage in a party-by-party analysis." Op. at 7-8. Instead, the opinion below simply, and wrongly, lumps all five defendants together as if there were only one entity.

The Court of Appeals erred by confusing the *party-by-party* analysis for determining prevailing parties with the *claim-by-claim* analysis for determining the *amount* of an attorneys' fee award. The *claim-by-claim* analysis is applicable in situations where parties win some claims and lose others, making "determination of [a single] prevailing party... subjective and difficult to assess," *Cornish Coll.*, 158 Wn. App. at 232. But a claim-by-claim analysis has no application to the three entirely prevailing defendants here: a party that prevails on all claims is always a prevailing party.

The Court of Appeals relies on *Fiore v. PPG Indus., Inc.*, 169 Wn. App. 325, 279 P.3d 972 (2012), in support of its theory that no defendant in this action can be a prevailing party. Op. at 8 (concluding that because Everett Hangar's claims are based a "common core of facts and the same legal theory," it prevailed against all defendants). *Fiore* does not remotely support the Court's conclusion. *Fiore* involved one plaintiff and one defendant. Accordingly, it says nothing about *Cornish College's* mandate that courts must "consider [defendants] separately when determining which party substantially prevailed." *Cornish Coll.*, 158 Wn. App. at 233.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals confuses so completely the concepts of parties and claims that it appears to refute the uncontroversial holding

of *Singleton* that a court must award attorneys' fees to a prevailing party where an action on contract contains a prevailing party fee provision. Op. at 9 (stating its <u>disagreement</u> with defendants' contention that "<u>Singleton v</u> <u>Frost</u>... support[s] the proposition that in an action involving a contract with a prevailing party fee provision, a court must award attorney fees to a party who prevails.").

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2) because the opinion below directly conflicts with *Singleton* and *Cornish College*, which mandate a party-by-party analysis to determine prevailing parties and require appropriate scrutiny of attorneys' fee awards.

The Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the rules regarding attorneys' fees are an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals decision below provides parties and courts with a misguided interpretation of who is a prevailing party. If not corrected, the opinion provides incentive for litigants to name as many defendants, and bring as many claims, as possible. Because the Court of Appeals improperly lumped all five defendants together, it also encourages co-defendants to retain separate counsel, which can

dramatically increase the litigation costs for all parties.¹ The rules regarding prevailing parties affect a significant portion of civil lawsuits, and they should be clear in their application.

B. The Opinion Below Conflicts with the Precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals by Identifying Everett Hangar as the Prevailing Party against the Other Two Defendants.

The Court of Appeals also erred in affirming the award of attorneys' fees to Everett Hangar against Historic Hangars and the Foundation. Everett Hangar obtained only a small fraction of the relief that it requested against these defendants, losing more than it won. In these circumstances, Everett Hangar is not the prevailing party under controlling precedent.

The Court of Appeals seems to have invented a new standard for when a party substantially prevails. The Court asserts that "Everett Hangar withdrew its claim for money damages, which the trial court then dismissed. [Defendants] did not successfully defend against those claims." Op. at 9. In fact, Everett Hangar persisted with its damages claim until it was forced to oppose defendants' motion for summary judgment shortly before trial. CP 765, 1088. That defendants defeated the damages claims

14

¹ After Everett Hangar sued them, all defendants retained the same law firm. The issue of which parties prevail cannot turn on defendants' efficient choice to hire one law firm.

after discovery was complete, and just before trial, is the epitome of "successfully defending" against these claims. The Court of Appeals ruling to the contrary misconstrues the trial record and distorts the legal standard for a successful defense.

The Court of Appeals' new standard for when a party substantially prevails also appears to ignore what occurs after trial. The Court acknowledged the appellate successes of Historic Hangars and the Foundation, but held that it would nonetheless continue to deem Everett Hangar the prevailing party:

And although this court reversed a portion of the injunctive relief the trial court granted, Everett Hangar received **some** of the injunctive relief that it requested.

Op. at 9 (emphasis added). But it is insufficient for a party to receive "some" of its requested relief in order to be a prevailing party. Where a plaintiff and a defendant both prevail on major issues, such as here, neither is the substantially prevailing party and no award of attorneys' fees is appropriate. *McGary v. Westlake Inv'rs*, 99 Wn.2d 280, 288, 661 P.2d 971 (1983). *Seashore Villa Association v. Hugglund Family Limited Partnership* confirms that this rule applies where, like here, a defendant defeats significant portions of the equitable requests made by a plaintiff. 163 Wn. App. 531, 547, 260 P.3d 906 (2011).

The Court of Appeals should not be permitted to rewrite the rules regarding when a party prevails, changing the legal standard to allow an award of attorneys' fees when a party merely receives "some" of its requested relief. This Court should accept review to correct this error.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Regarding Prevailing Parties is Clearly Erroneous and Manifestly Unjust.

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