FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/29/2019 4:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

96898-5

Court of Appeals Case No. 76949-9-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EVERETT HANGAR, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

KILO SIX OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; KILO SIX LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC HANGARS LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC FLIGHT FOUNDATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; and JOHN SESSIONS, an individual,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Kilo Six's Serial Attacks on Everett Hangar's Prevailing Party Status Have Been Finally Resolved

It is black-letter law that upon termination of the appellate process, the last substantive decision becomes settled law, not subject to further appeal. The Rules of Appellate Procedure are clear: "Upon issuance of the mandate of the appellate court ... the action taken or decision made by the appellate court is effective and binding on the parties to the review and governs all subsequent proceedings in the action in any court." RAP 12.2. Thus, with only limited exceptions, "The Supreme Court loses the power to change or modify a decision of the Court of Appeals upon issuance of the mandate of the Court of Appeals." RAP 12.7(b). Defendants' Petition ignores and defies these Appellate Rules and the related law of the case doctrine—both of which both bar Defendants' attempt to seek further review of an issue the Court of Appeals resolved more than two years ago.

1. The Appellate Rules and the Law of the Case Bar Further Review of Issues Already Decided

Applying settled principles of appellate procedure, this Court has long rejected attempts to re-open final decisions and prolong litigation:

[A]fter a case has been fairly submitted to an appellate court, and the court has regularly determined the issues involved ... the appellate court thereafter has no power to reconsider, alter, or modify its decision. To require courts to consider and reconsider cases at the will of litigants would deprive the courts of that stability which is necessary in the administration of justice. *Kosten v. Fleming*, 17 Wn.2d 500, 505-06, 136 P.2d 449 (1943) (citation & internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, "[t]here is no basis under Washington law" for an appellant to re-raise issues which were or could have been litigated in a prior appeal. *Shumway v. Payne*, 136 Wn.2d 383, 392-94, 964 P.2d 349 (1998) (issuance of appellate mandate after denial of a petition meant the appellant "no longer has an opportunity to seek discretionary review in this court of the Court of Appeals decision"); *Reeploeg v. Jensen*, 81 Wn. 2d 541, 548, 503 P.2d 99 (1972) ("We hold … that those rules which we have laid down pertaining to the powers of this court after its orders and decisions become final apply with equal force to the decisions and orders of the court of appeals.").

Division 2 faced circumstances remarkably similar to those here in *Mentor v. King*, 112 Wn. App. 1047, 2002 WL 1732564 (2002) (unpublished). Appellants sought review of a trial court decision, reconsideration of the Court of Appeals' decision, and Supreme Court review, all of which they lost. *Id.* at *1-2. Meanwhile, the trial court issued an order to enforce its ruling, which was also appealed. *Id.* When appellants tried re-litigate an argument from the first appeal, the Court of Appeals rejected it, holding appellants were not "entitle[d] ... to resurrect this failed argument." *Id.* at *2. Because the first and second appeal had "identical '(1) subject matter; (2) cause of action; (3) persons and parties;

and (4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made," the "First Appeal is Res Judicata as to the Second Appeal." *Id.* (quoting *Rains v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 660, 663, 674 P.2d 165 (1983)).

Division 3 reached the same result in *Inland Foundry Co. v. Spokane County Air Pollution Control Authority*, 106 Wn. App. 1007, 2001 WL 438962 (2001) (unpublished). Again, appellant sought review of a trial court decision, lost, moved for reconsideration, and sought review with the Supreme Court. *Id.* at *1. After subsequent trial court proceedings, appellant attempted to re-litigate its prior appellate defeat. *Id.* at *2. The Court of Appeals soundly rejected this tactic: "If any matter in controversy here either was or could have been adjudicated in the former action, that judgment became res judicata." *Id.* (citing *Globe Constr. Co. v. Yost*, 173 Wash. 528, 529, 23 P.2d 895 (1933)). Thus, matters encompassed in the Court of Appeals' "previous final decision on the merits" were barred from further review. *Id.*

All these outcomes simply enforce the settled law of the case doctrine. For example, in *Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 131 Wn.2d 640, 955 P.2d 555 (1997), this Court considered a second appeal. In the first appeal, the Court set forth a test for the recovery of damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and remanded for the trial court to decide whether that standard was met. *Id.* at 651-52. After rulings by the trial court on

remand, Sintra appealed and tried to challenge the test established in the first appeal, but this Court refused to review its prior decision under the law of the case doctrine. *Id.* at 645; *see also State v. Worl*, 129 Wn.2d 416, 426, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) ("law of the case doctrine precludes the Court of Appeals' reconsideration of the ... issues it had decided in [the first appeal]"). Similarly, in *Lian v. Stalick*, 115 Wn. App. 590, 62 P.3d 933 (2003), the Court of Appeals found a landlord breached the warranty of habitability and remanded for clarification on damages. After remand, the landlord appealed, once again arguing the trial court erred in finding a warranty breach. *Id.* at 592-94. The Court of Appeals rejected the landlord's attempt to re-argue the issue, holding the law of the case doctrine barred review of its finding from the first appeal. *Id.* at 598-99.

These settled principles compel the same result here. Defendants first made (and lost) their challenge to Everett Hangar's prevailing party status to the trial court. When the Court of Appeals first addressed the "prevailing party" issue, it held the trial court "properly awarded Everett Hangar attorney fees." CP 158-59 (affirming trial court's conclusion at CP 895). Defendants then sought reconsideration—repeating their same arguments on the prevailing party issue. *See generally* App. 2. Division One again rejected Defendants' arguments and declined to reconsider the issue. App. 3. Undeterred, Defendants next filed a Petition for Review to

this Court, repeating their same arguments. *See generally* App. 4. The Supreme Court denied Defendants' Petition for Review. App. 5. This led to the issuance of the appellate mandate, *see* App. 6, and should have finally concluded continued litigation over prevailing party status.

Unfortunately, it did not: Defendants made this same argument again to the trial court on remand. The trial court once again rejected it, holding that the prevailing party issue was already decided and could not be re-considered: "This argument was previously rejected by this court, and that decision was upheld by the Court of Appeals. Accordingly the court will not reconsider the [prevailing party] argument here." CP 27. Finally, Defendants raised the issue to the Court of Appeals yet again. *See generally* App. 13. Division One affirmed its prior decisions, holding that "the trial court did not err in applying the law of the case that Everett Hangar is the prevailing party." Pet. App. A at 6. Now, with their second Petition for review to this Court, Defendants are on their *seventh* effort to re-litigate the already resolved prevailing party issue.

Importantly, the issues raised in Defendants' second Petition are not just similar to those Defendants raised in these previous efforts—they are identical. In fact, the arguments in the second Petition track nearly word-for-word those Defendants fully litigated in the first appeal and this Court declined to hear more than two years ago:

First Petition for Discretionary	Second Petition for
Review (denied Jan. 2017)	Discretionary Review
"The trial court and the Court of	"The Court of Appeals failed to
Appeals were required to award	award attorneys' fees to three
attorneys' fees to Sessions, the	totally prevailing parties in direct
Association, and Kilo Six [a]nd	contravention of the law
Everett Hangar cannot be a	established by this Court. The
substantially prevailing party against	opinion below also misapplies the
Historic Hangars and [Historic	law determining prevailing parties
Flight]" App. 4 at 17-18.	when both sides win significant
	issues." Pet. at 18-19.

Compare also App. 4 at 11-13 *with* Pet. at 9-11 (asserting that Kilo Six, the Owners Association, and Sessions were in fact the prevailing parties at trial); App. 4 at 15-17 *with* Pet. at 14-15 (arguing that Everett Hangar did not prevail as to Historic Flight and Historic Hangar).

Defendants raise the same issues here that the Court of Appeals rejected in its first appellate decision. That decision is final, and bars further appeals as to Everett Hangar's prevailing party status. This Court should decline Defendants' request to re-open this settled decision. The appellate rules and law of the case doctrine exist exists precisely for this situation—to preclude unsuccessful parties from re-arguing a previously decided issue *ad nauseum*. It is well past time for this matter to end.

2. There Is No Basis to Ignore the Law of the Case and Reopen the Mandate from the First Appeal

Remarkably, Defendants offer only a passing reason why their second Petition could survive this fatal flaw, suggesting that "even if the

law of the case doctrine were potentially applicable here," the issue should be re-opened because the prior decision was "clearly erroneous" and "manifestly unjust." Pet. at 16 (citation omitted).¹ They cite no cases involving similar circumstances under which Supreme Court review has been granted, and do nothing to show their circumstances meet this exceedingly high bar. That is because they do not.

First, Defendants' claim that some of them wholly escaped the consequences of their loss at trial is wrong. They argue that Sessions, the Owners Association, and Kilo Six "won everything," Pet. at 1, but the Court of Appeals actually found Kilo Six violated the same CC&R provisions on which the injunction against Historic Hangar and Historic Flight was based: "We agree with the trial court's conclusion[] that Kilo Six … breached rules and regulations found in the Snohomish County Code and Paine Field rules [incorporated in the CC&R's]." CP 403-04.

More fundamentally, the injunction won by Everett Hangar shows that Defendants' superficial distinctions between Sessions and the various entities he controls are meaningless here. Although the injunction names Historic Hangars and Historic Flight, it also imposes obligations on each

¹ Defendants also challenge the trial court's finding that Everett Hangar's claims arose from a "common core of facts and the same legal theory." Pet. at 17. But this argument, while couched as an attack on the reasonableness of the fee amount, is simply a backdoor attempt to revive the prevailing party issue that has been finally decided.

of "their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them." CP 261 ¶ 1. It is indisputable that *all Defendants*, including Sessions, fall within that category. As Defendants admit, Sessions "is the managing member of Historic Hangars and Kilo Six, the president of [Historic Flight], and a director of the Owners Association," Pet. at 5—all of which act through Sessions, and none of which may violate the injunction.

This is shown by the contempt proceedings that took place after Defendants' first appeal. In an effort to avoid the contempt finding against them, Defendants submitted a declaration by Sessions, in which he claimed he had instructed Historic Flight regarding compliance with the injunction, App. 12. ¶ 5, and that certain evidence of violations of the court's injunction related to work being done on behalf of the Owner's Association and Kilo Six, *id.* ¶ 19. Thus, the very entities and individual Defendants claim "prevailed" at trial are those same entities that were forced to comply with the injunction and were involved in the conduct the trial court found to be in contempt of that injunction.

Finally, the cases cited by Defendants do not show the commonsense conclusion of the trial court and Court of Appeals to be clearly erroneous or manifestly unjust. *Singleton v. Frost*, 108 Wn.2d 723, 726-27, 742 P.2d 1224 (1987), stands for the basic notion that an individual

who sues on a promissory note and wins must receive fees as set forth in the note. Defendants, however, brought no claims against Everett Hangar, much less any on which they prevailed. Instead, Everett Hangar sued four entities owned or controlled by Sessions—all of which had related roles in the ownership and operation of the adjoining lots. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding that Sessions' companies violated the CC&Rs, and that those violations occurred under their corporate capacity. Nothing in *Singleton* prevents this practical—and correct—understanding of the parties, their relationship, and the outcome of the trial and appeal.

Nor does the prevailing party decision conflict with *Cornish College of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. Partnership*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 242 P.3d 1 (2010), which holds that in cases with "several distinct and severable claims," courts should employ a "proportionality approach" where "each party is awarded attorney fees for the claims on which it succeeds or against which it successfully defends." *Id.* at 232 (citation & internal quotation marks omitted). Nothing in that decision shows the lower courts here lacked discretion to find the claims at issue were *not* "distinct and severable" where they all related to the easement and safety and security violations on which Everett Hangar won its judgment.

McGary v. Westlake Investors, 99 Wn.2d 280, 661 P.2d 971 (1983), also does not pose a conflict. In a declaratory judgment action

interpreting two contract clauses, the Court agreed with plaintiff on one clause, and defendant on another, stating "[u]nder our decision here ... there is no prevailing party." *Id.* at 288. Defendants claim *McGary* shows that when both parties "prevail on major issues," no fee award is proper. Pet. at 15. But Defendants did not prevail on any major issue: The trial court and Court of Appeals held that Historic Hangars and Historic Flight violated the easement in the CC&Rs and committed egregious safety and security violations, the only two claims asserted against them. At trial, Sessions argued that Everett Hangar had no permanent easement at all, and that he had no safety and security responsibilities to Everett Hangar. He lost all those arguments, and he and his entities are now subject to a permanent injunction—as shown by the contempt order. Apps. 8 & 9. The trial court and Court of Appeals' determination that Everett Hangar was the prevailing party under those circumstances is a far cry from the kind of "clearly erroneous" and "manifest[ly] [u]njust[]" outcomes required to reopen the settled law of the case. See Folsom v. County of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 264, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988).

B. Defendants' Trivial Gripes with the Fee Amount Do Not Warrant Supreme Court Review

Defendants raise just one argument that the Court of Appeals did not expressly consider and reject in the first appeal, asserting the trial court improperly awarded fees for unrecoverable work. Pet. at 18. However, they offer no reason why the Supreme Court should review this common complaint by losing litigants, and cannot show the Court of Appeals erred in finding substantial evidence supports the fee award.

This Court reviews a trial court's fee award for a "manifest abuse of discretion." *Fisher Props., Inc. v. Arden-Mayfair, Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 364, 375, 798 P.2d 799 (1990). A trial judge is given "broad discretion in determining the reasonableness of a an award," *Ethridge v. Hwang*, 105 Wn. App. 447, 460, 20 P.3d 958 (2001), and "determination of a fee award should not be an unduly burdensome proceeding for the court," *Steele v. Lundgren*, 96 Wn. App. 773, 786, 982 P.2d 619 (1999). As long as the trial court considered the "relevant facts" and "the reasons given for the award are sufficient for review, a detailed analysis of each expense claimed is not required." *Id*.

Defendants claim that certain fee entries were not recoverable, pointing to a single entry of 8.8 hours (out of the thousands of hours of attorney time covered by the fee award). Pet. at 18. Despite their naked assertion that it is "undisputed" the 8.8 hours in fees were not actually incurred, Defendants point to nothing in the record supporting that claim; the only evidence they cite is their own prior briefing. *See id.* (citing CP 187). After considering that exact claim, the trial court found "there was

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